RECEIVED

Nov 12 2024

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Richland County

Honorable Maite Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

MIMI J. MARSHALL,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-001123

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

GARY H JOHNSON
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

- I. Did the PCR court err in finding a break in the chain of custody, caused by the state and concerning a non-fungible piece of evidence, justified the destruction of such evidence and excused trial counsel's failure to investigate or properly address such evidence at trial?

- II. Did the PCR court err in determining that the state's destruction of physical evidence before examination by either the state's experts or the petitioner's expert before trial negated a finding of prejudice since the impact of such evidence was "speculative"?

STATEMENT

Doris Marshall died from a single gunshot wound to the head that raveled front to back and upwards, with an exit at the back right top of the skull (with a very slightly left right pattern of travel). App. 428, ll. 15 – 18. This wound was the result of an accidental discharge of petitioner’s shotgun while Doris and petitioner, her husband of thirty-seven years, stood near the doorway to the marital home. App. 569, ll. 13 – 24; 775, l. 17 – 776, l. 11. During a disagreement about petitioner going outside to check on a potential disturbance, Doris grabbed the gun, and “it went up and it went off.” App. 540, ll. 15-17; 775, l. 17 – 776, l. 11. This shotgun was ancient, manufactured before 1968, likely in 1949, and was in such an unsafe condition that it could have discharged without the trigger being pulled. App. 593, l. 12 – 594, l. 7. Petitioner was described as “heartbroken” and that he had claimed to family members that he had “messed up.” App. 115, ll. 16-17; 116, ll. 5-10.

Petitioner’s nephew, Robert Marshall, Jr., touched off a search by calling the police and other family members after petitioner had shown up, “heartbroken” in the wee hours of the morning. App. 115, ll. 16-17. Petitioner stated he had “messed up,” and indicated that he had shot and killed Doris, though this “admission” lacked a statement of culpability. App. 116, ll. 5-10. After calls from relatives, police detained petitioner at a local bar based on information discovered at the scene and provided by Robert Marshall, Jr. earlier in the day, as well as accounts from family members at the trailer. App. 519, ll. 9 - 22. The state’s theory, based in no small part on the “expert” testimony centered on blood patterns present at the crime scene, was that Doris “sat down to relax, [and] didn’t even have time to untie her shoes,” when petitioner sprung into “deadly action” by shooting her in the face. App. 643, ll. 6-22.

After his detention and transportation to the Richland County Sheriff's Office on August 16, 2015, petitioner gave a statement to Investigator Joe Clarke, of the Richland County Sheriff's Department, in which he told investigators he had a gun in the front room of the trailer because the trailer park was an unstable place, that Doris had grabbed the gun, and "it went up and it went off" as they were standing near the door. App. 540, ll. 14 - 21.

A Richland County grand jury indicted petitioner for murder and felon in possession of a firearm. App. 716 - 721. On October 30, 2017, petitioner was tried before the Honorable Robert Hood and a jury for murder.¹ App. 1. April Sampson, Sandra Moser, and Samuel McGlothlin represented the State. App. 1. Alicia Goode, Stephen Krzyston, and Lucas Hawks represented the petitioner. App. 1. The jury convicted petitioner of murder. App. 702, l. 23 – 705, l. 14. Judge Hood sentenced petitioner to life without the possibility of parole for the murder and a concurrent five-year term on the weapon charge. App. 714, ll. 9-15.

During trial, the State's theory centered around what it contended was the factual impossibility of Appellant's claims. In support of that contention the State called two police witnesses that testified to "blood spatter evidence," Timothy Lee and Stan Richards. The state repeatedly elicited testimony and argued petitioner's contentions to police contradicted what blood spatter evidence showed to be true. App. 86, l. 20 – 88, l. 5; 89, ll. 5-14; 541, ll. 5-10; 642, l. 23 - 643, l. 5; 652, l. 2 - 13. By contrast, petitioner's trial counsel argued that the physical evidence was indicative of an unintentional shooting, that the State was wrong in its analysis of the physical evidence, and that there was no evidence of malice aforethought. App. 94, ll. 5-12; 667, l. 17 – 669, l. 10; 673, l. 24 – 674, l. 10. This included the expert testimony of Christopher Robinson who was qualified as an expert in crime scene reconstruction, firearms, and blood spatter analysis. App.

¹ Petitioner did not contest the weapon offense and pled guilty to it. App. 8, l. 6 – 9, l. 23.

590, l. 22 – 591, l. 13. Robinson contradicted the state’s experts, relying extensively on the physical nature of the wound to dispute the angle of the shotgun barrel as being pointed at Dorthy when the fatal shot was fired. App. 597, l. 9 – 599, l. 11. Importantly, a missing element from the blood pattern analysis from any of the experts was any testimony regarding the white t-shirt petitioner was wearing when the fatal shooting occurred.

During the PCR hearing, petitioner testified extensively how the accident happened and that the t-shirt he was wearing would have aided the evaluation of the crime scene by the expert witnesses who focused extensively on blood pattern evidence. App. 777, l. 9 – 778, l. 9; 780, ll. 4 – 19. At the PCR hearing, Petitioner’s lead trial counsel, Alicia Goode, claimed to lack any memory of the t-shirt being addressed during trial. App. 789, ll. 14 – 23. However, Stephen Krzyston, co-counsel during trial, contradicted this claim and acknowledged a problem arose surrounding the t-shirt and that the state destroyed the t-shirt before trial. App. 795, ll. 2 – 17. At the PCR hearing, the destruction of the t-shirt was acknowledged by the state, with solicitor April Simpson claiming it was destroyed since the chain of custody was broken and the t-shirt could not be used as evidence during trial. App. 802, ll. 3 – 22.

Following the jury’s verdict, petitioner appealed raising two issues to the appellate courts: the propriety of the state’s experts and the lack of a charge on voluntary manslaughter. The Court of Appeals affirmed the conviction in an unpublished opinion. State v. Marshall, No. 2017-002329 (S.C. Ct. App. Aug. 12, 2020).

Petitioner filed for post-conviction relief. App. 722. In a *pro se* amendment to the PCR application, petitioner alleged counsel was ineffective and the state committed misconduct surrounding the destruction of the t-shirt and the blood pattern evidence it contained. App. 736-739. An evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Maite Murphy on January 11, 2024.

App. 766. Timothy Griffith appeared on behalf of petitioner and D. Russell Barlow represented the state. App. 766. Judge Murphy denied relief by written order of dismissal specifically addressing the impact on the bloody t-shirt. App. 805 – 834.

This petition for certiorari follows.

ARGUMENT

I. The PCR court erred in finding a break in the chain of custody, caused by the state and concerning a non-fungible piece of evidence, justified the destruction of such evidence and excused trial counsel's failure to investigate or properly address such evidence at trial.

A. How the issue was raised at PCR.

Petitioner asserted trial counsel was ineffective in failing to properly investigate and handle the issues surrounding the white t-shirt he was wearing during the fatal shooting. App. 736-739. Petitioner noted that the destruction of the t-shirt and the fact that it contained blood spatter and other potential evidence associated with the shooting was not fully disclosed and addressed during trial. App. 781, l. 12 – 782, l. 3. In his *pro se* amendment to his original application, petitioner specifically noted that the trial counsel's mishandling of the t-shirt evidence was due to trial counsel's failure to adequately present testimony that the t-shirt was bloody, was found by petitioner's daughter, returned to law enforcement, and that the t-shirt was disposed of that prevented its use as evidence during trial. App. 738-39.

During the PCR hearing, petitioner testified extensively how the accident happened and that the t-shirt he was wearing would have aided the evaluation of the crime scene by the expert witnesses who focused extensively on blood pattern evidence. App. 778, l. 23 – 779, l. 20. Trial counsel claimed to lack any memory of the t-shirt being addressed during trial, though co-counsel directly contradicted this claim and acknowledged a problem arose surrounding the t-shirt and that the state destroyed the t-shirt. App. 789, ll. 14 – 23; 795, ll. 2 – 17. The destruction of the t-shirt was acknowledged by the state, with the solicitor admitting it contained blood evidence but

claiming it was destroyed by the state since they had broken the chain of custody and could not use the t-shirt as evidence during trial. App. 802, ll. 3 – 22.

B. How the PCR court ruled.

The PCR court ruled that the value of the t-shirt as evidence was “wrought with speculation and **not credible**.” App. 826 (emphasis in original). The PCR court also found that the state’s explanation – that the t-shirt was destroyed since the chain of custody had been broken – meant that trial counsel could not have been deficient since the t-shirt had lost evidentiary value. App. 829. Finally, the court found that no prejudice could be shown since the evidentiary value of the t-shirt was speculative. App. 829.

C. How the PCR court erred.

The PCR court erred in finding the solicitor’s explanation, that the chain of custody required destruction of the t-shirt, was credible since it was based on an error of law. Here, the t-shirt was non-fungible and could have been authenticated and used as evidence.

While the chain of custody requirement is strict where fungible evidence is involved, where the issue is the admissibility of non-fungible evidence—that is, evidence that is unique and identifiable—the establishment of a strict chain of custody is not required: If the offered item possesses characteristics which are fairly unique and readily identifiable, and if the substance of which the item is composed is relatively impervious to change, the trial court is viewed as having broad discretion to admit merely on the basis of testimony that the item is the one in question and is in a substantially unchanged condition.

State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 134, 620 S.E.2d 737, 741–42 (2005). “Because the challenged evidence in this case is not fungible, unlike the cocaine in Melendez–Diaz or the blood sample in Bullcoming, here strict chains of custody are not required for admission into evidence.” State v.

Brockmeyer, 406 S.C. 324, 352, 751 S.E.2d 645, 660 (2013). Brockmeyer itself dealt with an imperfect chain of custody of a t-shirt, finding it a non-fungible item that did not require a strict chain of custody analysis. Moreover, counsel for petitioner waived any objection to the state's evidence based upon a chain of custody objection pre-trial. App. 57, ll. 4 – 18.

The PCR court erred in basing its ruling on the solicitor's misunderstanding of the impact of *the issue the state created* with the chain of custody. Here, the state had possession of the t-shirt and other pieces of physical evidence as they searched the vehicle petitioner drove after the shooting. App. 571, l. 24 – 573, l. 13. The state released the vehicle, not noticing the bag containing the petitioner's bloody t-shirt inside the car. App. 381, ll. 14-25. Petitioner's daughter found the t-shirt, contacted law enforcement, and returned the t-shirt to their possession. App. 382, ll. 1-4. While a break in the chain was created by the state, that did not provide the state license to unilaterally elect to destroy evidence. The PCR court erred in excusing trial counsel's handling of the t-shirt based upon the state's claim that the evidentiary value of the t-shirt was negated due to a break in the chain of custody the state caused.

Since the break in the chain of custody would not have made the t-shirt inadmissible at trial, the PCR court should have examined trial counsel's handling of this piece of evidence during trial to determine if counsel was effective. The PCR court erred as a matter of law in finding the solicitor's explanation that the t-shirt had lost its evidentiary value due to a break in the chain of custody excused any deficient performance by trial counsel.

As noted below, this case involved competing experts that disagreed about the conclusions to draw from an inspection of the crime scene and the photos depicting the scene. As the jury's sole determination was to evaluate how the shotgun was fired, either with intent or by accident, trial counsel was ineffective in handling the evidence surrounding the destroyed t-shirt. The PCR

court erred as a matter of law in excusing trial counsel’s ineffective assistance on the basis that trial counsel could not have been deficient since the t-shirt had lost evidentiary value due to a break in the chain of custody caused by the state. App. 829.

“[C]riminal defense attorneys have a duty to undertake a reasonable investigation, which *at a minimum* includes interviewing potential witnesses and making an independent investigation of the facts and circumstances of the case.” Edwards v. State, 392 S.C. 449, 456, 710 S.E.2d 60, 64 (2011) (emphasis added); *see also* Ard v. Catoe, 372 S.C. 318, 331–32, 642 S.E.2d 590, 597 (2007) (“Moreover, while the scope of a reasonable investigation depends upon a number of issues, ‘at a minimum, counsel has the duty to interview potential witnesses and to make an independent investigation of the facts and circumstances of the case.’”).

“Where counsel articulates a valid reason for employing a certain strategy, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel.” Gilchrist v. State, 350 S.C. 221, 226–27, 565 S.E.2d 281, 284 (2002). However, “strategic choices made by counsel after an incomplete investigation are reasonable ‘only to the extent that reasonable professional judgment supports the limitations on the investigation.’” McKnight v. State, 378 S.C. 33, 45, 661 S.E.2d 354, 360 (2008) (*quoting* Von Dohlen v. State, 360 S.C. 598, 607, 602 S.E.2d 738, 743 (2004)). Here, trial counsel Goode claimed no memory of the t-shirt and could not articulate a valid strategy in failing to investigate or prepare for the importance of the state’s destruction of this piece of evidence. App. 789, ll. 18 – 23. While petitioner’s co-counsel both remembered the t-shirt being destroyed by the state, they failed to make any motion regarding the destroyed evidence and failed to lay a proper foundation for a spoliation charge related to the state’s admitted destruction of the t-shirt. App. 625, ll. 10 – 22; 795, ll. 2 – 17; 802, ll. 5 – 22.

As discussed in more detail *infra*, Trial counsel's failure to investigate and properly prepare for the importance of the destroyed t-shirt was ineffective assistance of counsel. See McKnight v. State, 378 S.C. 33, 46, 661 S.E.2d 354, 360 (2008)(finding ineffective assistance in not attempting to rebut the medical studies counsel knew the State's experts would cite); Bagwell v. State, 410 S.C. 259, 266, 763 S.E.2d 630, 634 (Ct. App. 2014) (finding the decision not to test broken glass for DNA prior to trial was unreasonable because the state used the glass as circumstantial evidence of guilt). The PCR court erred as a matter of law in excusing this deficient performance due to a break in the chain of custody claim.

II. The PCR court erred in determining that the state’s destruction of physical evidence before examination by either the state’s experts or the petitioner’s expert before trial negated a finding of prejudice since the impact of such evidence was “speculative”.

A. How the t-shirt evidence could have impacted trial.

During trial, petitioner’s counsel attacked the nature of the police investigation and, particularly, the basis for the opinions of the blood pattern experts. Of note, this included questions surrounding the impact of the t-shirt on their investigation and whether or not they examined it.

Q And there was a t-shirt that the -- Mr. Marshall was supposed to be wearing when all this happened, a full white t-shirt?

A I never saw the Defendant.

Q Okay. So you never examined a full white t-shirt?

A No, sir.

App. 241, ll. 11-16. Notably, this line of questioning was from lead trial counsel Goode, who claimed at the PCR hearing not to remember anything related to this t-shirt. App. 789, ll. 22-23.

As part of trial strategy, Goode noted deficiencies in the crime scene investigation. Investigator Lee did not do any “tests” when “doing the blood spatter,” and he did not photograph the blood in question with scale, a reference to known measurement standards placed within the focus of the evidentiary photograph. App 169, l. 21 - 25. Lee did not follow department blood spatter protocols in failing to conduct road-mapping or take measurements of the room in question. App. 170, l. 1 – 3. Lee acknowledged no measurements were taken at the crime scene, that the photographs “might have been” over or underexposed, and that over or underexposure could lead to inaccurate depiction of probative evidence. App. 223, ll. 12-13; 228, ll. 23-24. Lee also admitted he had not complied with the technical requirements for the prescribed photographic

documentation process, and that no stringing, one of two available empirical methodologies, had been done to determine an area of convergence, a reference to the area in which a blood-letting originated. App. 235, ll. 9-22.

The imprecise nature of the state's experts testimony would have been further undermined by trial counsel's proper handling of the destroyed t-shirt. Trial counsel attempted to use the destroyed t-shirt but, due to improper investigation and lack of presentation of testimony that would have connected the t-shirt and its importance to the investigation, the trial court denied a spoliation charge negating its potential impact before the jury.

MR. HAWKS: We want accident, involuntarily and spoliation.

THE COURT: What's the spoliation based on?

MR. HAWKS: The spoliation is about the shirt that was found in the van.

THE COURT: All I've heard is there's a white shirt in the van that she was told she could throw away.

MR. HAWKS: It is the shirt that he was wearing when the shooting occurred.

THE COURT: And where is the evidence of that in the record?

MS. GOODE: Robert, Jr. testified that he was wearing a white t-shirt. I believe there was another witness that testified he wore a white t-shirt. Ms. Tamiaka Marshall testified that she had the white t-shirt and when asked -- she, I guess, asked law enforcement what she could do with it, they told her she could throw it away.

THE COURT: Where is the evidence that that white t-shirt is the white t-shirt he had on?

MS. GOODE: I think that's part of our issue, Your Honor. It's a white t-shirt that potentially had evidence on that and it could have helped in the case.

THE COURT: Okay. There's no evidence of spoliation in the record. I'm not going to charge spoliation.

App. 624, l. 24 – 625, l. 22.

Through trial counsel's errors, she failed to elicit testimony from any of the witnesses connected to the destroyed t-shirt that created the connection to the shooting itself – the presence of blood. At the PCR hearing, petitioner's co-counsel admitted the defense was aware that the police had overlooked the t-shirt in their initial search and that the t-shirt was never presented to the blood pattern witnesses. App. 795, ll. 3 – 17. At the PCR hearing, the state admitted the t-shirt contained blood evidence as relayed by petitioner's daughter who contacted police indicating the bloody t-shirt had been left in the vehicle. App. 802, ll. 7 – 22. Interestingly, during trial, the solicitor failed to volunteer this information to the trial court during the discussion surrounding the bloody t-shirt and its connection to the testimony elicited during trial. App. 624, l. 24 – 625, l. 22. During the course of trial, for each witness questioned by trial counsel regarding the t-shirt, counsel failed to ask if there was blood on the t-shirt, creating the disconnect between the t-shirt's importance and the trial itself.

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