STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

Sep 05 2025

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to Richland County
Honorable Robert E. Hood, Trial Judge
Honorable Maité Murphy, Post-conviction Relief Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2024-001123

Mimi J. Marshall, #231397,

Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

D. RUSSELL BARLOW, II
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 105228

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
803-734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Richards also attached significance to the lack of bloodletting in the area where the victim would have been sitting when the impact occurred. (App'x p. 480, l. 22–p. 481, l. 15). Because blood on the victim's leg was soaked into the area rather than dripping downward, it indicated that the victim was sitting during the duration of the bloodletting event. (App'x p. 488, ll. 12–21). He called the area without blood the void in which the victim sat during the impact. (App'x p. 488, l. 22–p. 489, l. 1).

Richards also classified the stains and biological matter appearing nearest the front door as outliers because the bloodletting was otherwise contained to the center and side of the sofa, farthest from the door, and because the area from the front door straight back contained no major bloodletting. (App'x p. 489, ll. 2–9). Richards also described that for the portion of the victim's scalp to land on the back of the sofa where it was found, the victim had to be on the couch in the sitting position. (App'x p. 489, ll. 11–17).

Petitioner put forward Christopher Robinson (Robinson), who testified as an expert in crime scene reconstruction, blood spatter analysis, and firearms analysis. (App'x p. 591, ll. 5–9). Robinson addressed the double-barreled shotgun and assessed its trigger pull as averaging 6 $\frac{3}{4}$ pounds of pressure. (App'x p. 592, ll. 9–17). He opined that the safety on the gun was not acting as intended and that the weapon was unsafe. (App'x p. 594, ll. 1–7). He measured the overall length of the weapon as 44.5 inches. (App'x p. 592, ll. 19–20).

As for the victim's injury, Robinson opined "the shot occurred from a distance of approximately three to four inches or less" from the victim's face, with gas pressure from the chamber causing the expansive injury to the skull. (App'x p. 594, ll. 16–25; p. 596, ll. 21–25; p. 598, l. 22–p. 599, l. 5). Based on the pattern of blood dispersion, he described the shot as an "upward shot through the head." (App'x p. 595, ll. 20–25). He testified, "reportedly, she's standing at the end of the couch when the shot occurs, driving her over onto the couch," and Petitioner was "going out the door." (App'x p. 599, ll. 8–11). He clarified for the record that he assessed the positioning of the parties at the time of the shot based upon Petitioner's statement to law enforcement. (App'x p. 614, l. 14–p. 615, l. 6).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for post-conviction relief depends on the specific issue before the appellate court. Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 (2018). When reviewing factual findings, the appellate courts defer to the post-conviction relief court's factual findings and will uphold them if any probative evidence in the record supports them. Buckson v. State, 423 S.C. 313, 320, 815 S.E.2d 436, 440 (2018); Smalls, 422 S.C. at 180–81, 810 S.E.2d at 839–40. However, pure questions of law will be reviewed *de novo* without deference to the post-conviction relief court. Id. Appellate courts will reverse the decision of the post-conviction relief court when it is controlled by an error of law. Goins v. State, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2012).

ARGUMENT

The post-conviction relief court correctly determined Petitioner failed to meet his burden of establishing trial counsel was constitutionally ineffective regarding the investigation into and handling of a t-shirt that was purportedly worn by Petitioner during the fatal shooting of his wife because Petitioner failed to establish that any beneficial evidence or successful arguments could have been gleaned from the t-shirt, and, accordingly, counsel could not have been deficient nor could there have been a reasonable probability that the result of Petitioner's trial would have been different but for counsel's handling of this t-shirt.

On appeal, Petitioner asserts that the post-conviction relief court erred in not finding trial counsel's representation constitutionally ineffective for failing to investigate or properly address the destruction of the bloody t-shirt evidence due to a break in the chain of custody. Petitioner further contends that the post-conviction relief court erred in finding Petitioner was not prejudiced by trial counsel's deficiency. Specifically, Petitioner contends that the post-conviction relief court erred in its assessment of trial counsel's handling of the evidence on the basis that the probative value of the evidence was speculative. Petitioner further contends he suffered prejudice from the trial court's refusal to give a spoliation charge where it could have added weight to the argument that the State's "handling and use of blood pattern evidence was unreliable." (PWC p. 17). However, as the post-conviction relief court properly found, Petitioner failed to demonstrate how further investigation or testimony regarding the t-shirt would have affected the outcome of his trial, given that he presented no expert witnesses to testify, and the post-conviction relief court was clearly not persuaded by Petitioner's testimony. Furthermore, Petitioner failed to establish the requisite prejudice necessary for relief—that the result of his proceeding would have been different but for trial counsel's failure to investigate or properly address the destruction of the t-shirt evidence, where Petitioner's arguments regarding the t-shirt were based squarely on speculation. The post-conviction relief court correctly determined Petitioner was not entitled to relief since he

failed to meet his burden of establishing either deficiency or prejudice as required. This Court should deny certiorari.

The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution guarantee all criminal defendants the right to "assist[ance] by an attorney, whether retained or appointed, who plays the role necessary to ensure that the trial is fair." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 685 (1984). In post-conviction relief actions, the reviewing court applies the two-part test outlined in Strickland to determine whether counsel's conduct "was so [ineffective] as to require reversal" of the Petitioner's conviction. Id. at 687. To obtain relief, a post-conviction relief Petitioner must prove (1) counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness; *and* (2) there is a reasonable probability the outcome of the proceeding would have been different but for counsel's deficient performance. Williams v. State, 363 S.C. 341, 343, 611 S.E.2d 232, 233 (2005) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 104). Failure to make the required showing of either deficient performance or sufficient prejudice defeats the ineffectiveness claim. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 700.

Petitioner bears the heavy burden of establishing both prongs of the Strickland standard. Hughes v. State, 346 S.C. 554, 558, 552 S.E.2d 315, 317 (2001); Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC. To prove deficient performance, the Petitioner must establish that, in light of all the circumstances, the acts or omissions complained of "fell below an objective standard of reasonableness" as measured by "prevailing professional norms." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688. Reviewing courts should be deferential in this inquiry and apply "a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance." Id. at 689.

With respect to prejudice, the Petitioner must demonstrate "a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Id. at 694. A reasonable probability is a probability "sufficient to undermine confidence in the

outcome." Id. When evaluating this probability, the reviewing court "should consider the specific impact counsel's error had on the outcome of the trial" coupled with "the strength of the State's case in light of the [totality of the] evidence presented to the jury." Smalls, 422 S.C. at 188, 810 S.E.2d at 843. Significantly, "the ultimate focus of inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 696.

"[S]trategic choices made after thorough investigation of law and facts relevant to plausible options are virtually unchallengeable; and strategic choices made after less than complete investigation are reasonable precisely to the extent that reasonable professional judgments support the limitations on investigation." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690–91. "In other words, counsel has a duty to make reasonable investigations or to make a reasonable decision that makes particular investigations unnecessary." Id. at 691. "In any ineffectiveness case, a particular decision not to investigate must be directly assessed for reasonableness in all the circumstances, applying a heavy measure of deference to counsel's judgments." Id. "The reasonableness of counsel's actions may be determined or substantially influenced by the defendant's own statements or actions." Id. "Counsel's actions are usually based, quite properly, on informed strategic choices made by the defendant and on information supplied by the defendant." Id. "In particular, what investigation decisions are reasonable depends critically on such information." Id.

In order to prevail upon a claim that counsel did not adequately prepare or investigate a case, an applicant must present evidence of what counsel could have discovered or what other defenses applicant could have requested counsel develop and present had counsel been more prepared. Harris v. State, 377 S.C. 66, 75–76, 659 S.E.2d 140, 145–46 (2008) (citing Jackson v. State, 329 S.C. 345, 353–54, 495 S.E.2d 768, 772 (1998)). Furthermore, an applicant must also present evidence to show how the discoverable matters or defenses would have resulted in a

different outcome. Id. (citing Davis v. State, 326 S.C. 283, 288, 486 S.E.2d 747, 749 (1997); Skeen v. State, 325 S.C. 210, 214, 481 S.E.2d 129, 132 (1997)). Mere speculation as to how the alleged lack of preparation prejudiced an applicant is not sufficient to support a grant of relief. Id., 377 S.C. at 75, 659 S.E.2d at 145 (citing Glover v. State, 318 S.C. 496, 498, 458 S.E.2d 538, 540 (1995)).

Here, Petitioner contends that the post-conviction relief court erred in its findings on two points: 1) the t-shirt would have been admissible at trial, so it had not lost its evidentiary value due to a break in the chain of custody¹; and 2) the post-conviction relief court should have examined how counsel handled the t-shirt and failed to lay a proper foundation for a spoliation charge. In furtherance of Petitioner's spoliation argument, he contends that had counsel elicited testimony describing the t-shirt, then it would have been connected to the fatal shooting and the trial court would have given a spoliation charge. Petitioner's argument misses the mark.

¹ Petitioner asserts that the t-shirt in question was a non-fungible item, which ostensibly negates the need for a stringent chain of custody. However, this argument overlooks a critical point: while the t-shirt itself may be unique, the bloodstains on it were undeniably fungible. Furthermore, the matter of whether the chain of custody was compromised remains contentious, as there exists conflicting testimony that casts doubt on the Petitioner's simplistic narrative.

At trial, Petitioner's daughter, Tameika Marshall, testified that after the minivan was released from the sheriff's department's custody, she found a t-shirt in a bag in the van and was told she could dispose of it. (App'x pp. 381–382). Richland County Sheriff's Deputy Joe Clark testified that he heard some items were turned in after the van was released, and he heard the t-shirt was thrown away. (App'x p. 573).

At the post-conviction relief hearing, Petitioner testified that trial counsel questioned his daughter about the t-shirt; she initially lied about it, then told the truth and informed trial counsel that she had returned it to the sheriff's department. (PCR Tr. pp. 16–17). On direct examination, Steven Krzyston testified that he remembered there being discussions about the t-shirt that was returned to the sheriff's department and that it was destroyed before trial. (PCR Tr. p. 30). On direct examination, Deputy Solicitor April Sampson testified that the t-shirt was received from Petitioner's daughter through law enforcement and was ultimately destroyed because the chain of custody had been broken. (PCR Tr. p. 37).

Notably, Petitioner's reliance on State v. Reaves² to assert that this Court has "approved charging the jury on spoliation" is misguided. In Reaves, this Court was presented with a case in which a spoliation charge was given in a criminal case; however, this Court specifically noted that "the propriety of this charge under state evidence law is not before the Court." Reaves, 414 S.C. at 128, 777 S.E.2d at 218 n.5. This Court further noted that "a spoliation of evidence charge has been limited to civil cases in South Carolina." Id. Nevertheless, even assuming spoliation charges were permitted in criminal cases in South Carolina, Petitioner cannot show that the t-shirt was destroyed in bad faith by law enforcement. Furthermore, trial counsel cannot be deficient for not laying a proper foundation for a jury charge that is yet to be recognized as a correct statement of law in South Carolina. See State v. Batson, 261 S.C. 128, 138, 198 S.E.2d 517, 522 (1973) (contemplating "grave doubt as to the propriety, in a criminal case, of the rule of an adverse inference from the failure to produce a material witness"); id. (stating "a charge of this proposition to a jury on ... behalf of either the State or the defense is not warranted except under most unusual circumstances"); State v. McBride, 416 S.C. 379, 389, 786 S.E.2d 435, 440 (Ct. App. 2016) ("Adverse inference charges are rarely permitted in criminal cases."); State v. Breeze, 379 S.C. 538, 547, 665 S.E.2d 247, 252 (Ct. App. 2008) (affirming the denial of a requested jury charge that an adverse inference could be drawn against the State for failing to produce the marijuana).

Moreover, to the extent Petitioner relies on Youngblood³, Petitioner has not shown that the t-shirt contained exculpatory or potentially exculpatory evidence. Instead, Petitioner has only offered speculation as to what the t-shirt may have shown. Petitioner provided no expert witness in blood pattern analysis at the post-conviction relief hearing to testify as to what a t-shirt soaked

² 414 S.C. 118, 777 S.E.2d 213 (2015).

³ Arizona v. Youngblood, 488 U.S. 51 (1988).

in blood could or could not have potentially shown. Petitioner also failed to call his daughter, Tameika Marshall, to testify at the evidentiary hearing. Cf. Vanover v. State, 433 S.C. 31, 44, 856 S.E.2d 160, 167 (Ct. App. 2021) ("We have no idea what Daughter's answer or explanation for the Doe allegation would have been. . . . We do not see how we could find this alleged deficiency to be prejudicial without some sense of what Daughter's explanation would have been."). Nevertheless, assuming, *arguendo*, that Petitioner's assertion that the t-shirt would have shown the victim was standing and not sitting, it is irrelevant because this was a contested fact before the jury, and the question before the jury was not whether the victim was standing or sitting; instead, it was whether Petitioner murdered his wife or whether it was an accident. The post-conviction relief court appropriately determined that trial counsel's performance was not deficient, as Petitioner failed to provide credible evidence demonstrating how additional investigation and testimony could have altered the trial's verdict. For the same reasons, Petitioner is unable to establish any prejudice where any objection pursuant to Youngblood would not have been successful.

Additionally, Petitioner contends that he was prejudiced by trial counsel's lack of fervency in pursuit of a spoliation charge because had a spoliation charge been given, it would have "added weight to the argument that the [S]tate's handling and use of the blood pattern evidence was unreliable." (PWC p. 17). However, to accept Petitioner's argument, it must be conceded that a spoliation charge is a correct statement of law in South Carolina, which is not the case. See Reaves, Batson, McBride, Breeze, supra. The post-conviction relief court correctly found Petitioner was not prejudiced by trial counsel's performance, as the only evidence presented by Petitioner was rife with speculation, and speculation cannot satisfy Petitioner's burden of proving prejudice. This Court should deny certiorari.

CONCLUSION